
City of Plymouth Plan Commission 

Members: Please notify us if you are unable to attend the meeting. 

Chairman; Mayor Don Pohlman 

Members: 
Jane Meyer 
Jeremy Schellin 
Greg Hildebrand 
Ron Nicolaus 
John Wyatt 
Justin Schmitz 

The City of Plymouth Plan Commission will have a meeting on Thursday, September 5, 2024 at 6:00 PM 
in Room 305, City Hall, and Plymouth, WI.  

The agenda will be as follows: 

1.) Approval of Minutes from August 1, 2024. 

2.) Site Plan Seeking approval; 818 E. Clifford St, dba; Carbliss for the installation of a 11 x 
23 foot pergola. Chisholm/Carbliss (enclosure) 

3.) Certified Survey Map seeking approval; Parcel number 59271829207, BEING ALL OF 
LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 27 OF THE 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS, PAGES 290-291 AS DOCUMENT NO 8409549, LOCATED 
IN PART OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 33, 
TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, CITY OF PLYMOUTH, SHEBOYGAN 
COUNTY, WISCONSIN. (generally located at or near the southwest corner of Hill and 
Dale Road and State Highway 67) Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC (enclosure) 

4.) Parcel seeking a recommendation for an amendment to the 2022 Comprehensive 
Plan Map; Parcel #59271829207 currently designated as Agricultural seeking a new 
designation of Commercial for the purpose of new commercial development. (generally 
located at or near the southwest corner of Hill and Dale Road and State Highway 67) 
Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC (enclosure) 

5.) Parcel seeking recommendation for rezoning from current A - Agricultural to B3 – 
Highway Business; Parcel #59271829207 currently Zoned as A - Agricultural seeking a 
new Zoning designation of B3 – Highway Business for the purpose of new commercial 
development. (generally located at or near the southwest corner of Hill and Dale Road and 
State Highway 67) Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC (enclosure) 

6.)  Ordinance Seeking recommendation for approval; Modifications to Sec 13-1-140 
Accessory Use Structures are being proposed, and thus requires a recommendation to 
City Council for approval. Blakeslee (enclosure) 



7.) Ordinance Seeking recommendation for approval; Modifications to Sec 13-1-92 
Parking requirements are being proposed, and thus requires a recommendation to City 
Council for approval. Blakeslee (enclosure) 

 
8.) PUBLIC HEARING regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No.7, 

the proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the District. 
Blakeslee (enclosure) 

 
9.) Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of 

and Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No.7” Blakeslee 
(enclosure)   
 

10.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 
(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth Staff/Alderpersons) 

 
 
It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may 
be in attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body at 
the above stated meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice. Please note that, 
upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional information or to request this service, contact City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853 
 
 



 
 
City of Plymouth  Telephone: (920) 893-3741 
128 Smith St. – PO Box 107  Facsimile: (920) 893-9590 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107  e-mail:  inspectorpete@plymouthgov.com 
 
 
 
August 1, 2024 
 
 
Members present: Chairman Don Pohlman, Jane Meyer, Ron Nicolaus, John Wyatt, Justin Schmitz 
 
Absent: Greg Hildebrand, Jeremy Schellin 
 
Staff Present; DPW Manager Cathy Austin  
 
The Plan Commission meeting was called to order by Chairman Pohlman at 6:00 PM.  
  

1.) Approval of Minutes from July 11, 2024. Motion to approve the July 11, 2024 minutes was made 
by Nicolaus, and seconded by Schmitz. On the roll all voted aye to approve. 

 
2.) Extraterritorial Map seeking approval: W6387 Karpathy Lane, Plymouth. Lot division to create 3 

parcels. Property Owner Clayton Brath was present. Motion to approve made by Nicolaus and 
seconded by Wyatt. On the roll all voted aye to approve. 

 
3.) Parcel(s) seeking recommendation to City Council for rezoning: parcels; 59271821046, and 

59271821047. BEING A PART OF THE NE ¼ AND THE SE ¼ OF THE NW ¼ OF SECTION 26, 
TOWNSHIP 15 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, SITUATED IN THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH, 
SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, WISCONSIN. Brian Doudna from the Sheboygan County Economic 
Development Corporation, aka SCEDC was present. Member Nicolaus asked about the property 
failing to transfer, and then reverting back to the R4 Multifamily Zoning. Confident the property will 
transfer Doudna stated it shouldn’t be an issue. Doudna continued to explain about the Froward 
Fund from 2021, that was established to help provide entry level homes to community members. 
He further explained the similarity to the Founders Point development in Sheboygan Falls. The 
plan for this development is to provide “walkable” living community. Member Schmitz inquired 
about how much land would be developed and were these destined to be smaller lots. The vintage 
style of living was the reply, much like the Vintage neighborhood. The total number of homes 
proposed has yet to be determined. Motion to approve made by Nicolaus, and seconded by 
Schmitz. On the roll all voted yes to approve. 
 

4.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission (Chairman, 
Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth Staff/Alderpersons) Nothing was brought 
forward. 
 

5.) Meeting adjourned at 6:13 PM. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Pete Scheuerman 
Secretary 

mailto:inspectorpete@plymouthgov.com








 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  August 28, 2024 

TO:  Plan Commission  
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   

 
RE: CSM - A division of Lot 2 of the Certified Survey Maps As Recorded In Volume 27 of Certified 

Survey Maps, Pages 290-291 as document No. 8409549, located in part of the northeast ¼ of 
the northeast ¼ of section 33, township 15 north, range 21 east, City of Plymouth, Sheboygan 
County Wisconsin.  

 
Comp Plan Amendment - Part of Parcel No. 59271829207 from a future land use designation of 
Agricultural to Commercial 

 
Rezoning - Part of Parcel No. 59271829207 currently Zoned as A, Agricultural. Seeking B3 – 
Business Highway. 

 
 

 
Background:  
Parcel No. 59271829207 is located directly on the southwest corner 
of the intersection Highway 67 and PP in Plymouth. With the approval 
of the property owner, Doller General is requesting a Certified Survey 
Map (CSM), a Comprehensive Plan Amendment, and Rezoning for 
a proposed Doller General store location. A draft site plan is included 
in the packet and will be discussed in more detail at an upcoming 
Plan Commission meeting. 
 
CSM:  
Dollar General is requesting that a portion of Parcel No. 
59271829207 (outlined in orange) be split from the original parcel for 
the proposed development. This will create a new parcel of 
approximately 1.941 acres and a second parcel of approximately 
2.834 acres. The 2.834-acre parcel will retain its current zoning and 
comprehensive plan designation. The full CSM is included in the 
application materials. Staff supports this request. 
 
Comp Plan Amendment:  
The comprehensive plan future land use map lists Parcel No. 
59271829207 as Agricultural. Based on Staff’s review of the 
Comprehensive Plan, it appears it was an oversight that this parcel 
was left as agriculture in the future land use map.  The City has 
previously viewed this location as a location for future development. 
 



Dollar General is requesting approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment that would designate the portion of 
Parcel No. 59271829207 (outlined in orange) as Commercial. With the expansion of residential properties in the 
southwest portion of the City, the intersection of two throughfares of Highway 67 and PP provides an ideal 
location for commercial development.  
 
Rezoning: Parcel No. 59271829207 is currently zoned as A, Agricultural. Given that the property is adjacent to 
Highway 67, Dollar General is requesting that the portion of Parcel No. 59271829207 (outlined in orange) be 
rezoned B3 - Business Highway for the proposed commercial development.   
 
The property directly to the north is Miller & Boeldt Farm Equipment (located in the Town of Plymouth). The 
property across the street on the northeast corner of 67 and PP is residential (Zoned R2).  The property to the 
east is Masters Gallery Foods (Zoned LI). The property is to the southeast is Suchon Funeral Home (Zoned B3) 
The property to the south is agricultural (Zoned A). The direct property to the west (following the creation of the 
CSM) will remain agricultural (Zoned A), but per the property owner may be developed in the future. Further west 
is the Granite Traice multi-family development (Zoned R4). The property to the northwest is residential (Zoned 
R3). Given the interaction location and adjacent property uses, Staff supports this request to use the B3 district. 
 
Recommendation:  
Recommend the CSM as presented to the Common Council for approval.  
Recommend the Comp Plan Amendment as presented to the Common Council for approval. 
Recommend the Rezoning Request as presented to the Common Council for approval. 
 
Attachments: 

• Dollar General Application Attachments 









TT

T

SS

SS

SS

SSSS
STST

16.5' WIDE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. NO. 1497473

20' WIDE DRAINAGE EASEMENT
PER DOC. NO. 1717707

PROJECT
LOCATION

HILL AND DALE ROAD COUNTY ROAD PP

SO
UT

H 
M

IL
W

A
UK

EE
 S

TR
EE

T/
 H

W
Y 

67
SO

UT
H 

M
IL

W
A

UK
EE

 S
TR

EE
T/

 H
W

Y 
67

Po
in
t
Be

gi
nn

in
g

of

POINT OF BEGINNING, INC. HOLDS THE RIGHTS TO COPYRIGHT IN AND TO THESE
PRINTS, DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS. NO REPRODUCTION, COPYING, ALTERATION,
MODIFICATION, USAGE, INCORPORATION INTO OTHER DOCUMENTS OR
ASSIGNMENT OF THE SAME MAY OCCUR WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN
PERMISSION OF POINT OF BEGINNING, INC.

2024 POINT OF BEGINNING, INC.C

REVISIONS

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DATE
PROJECT NO.

C
iv

il E
ng

in
ee

rin
g

La
nd

 S
ur

ve
yi

ng
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

ite
ct

ur
e

SHEETCOMP

49
41

 K
irs

ch
lin

g 
C

ou
rt

St
ev

en
s P

oi
nt

, W
I 5

44
81

Ph
on

e:
 7

15
.3

44
.9

99
9 

Fa
x:

 7
15

.3
44

.9
92

2

D
G

I 
PL

YM
O

U
TH

, L
LC

D
O

LL
A

R
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
PL

YM
O

U
TH

SH
E

B
O

YG
A

N
 C

O
, W

IS
C

O
N

SI
NC
O

M
PR

E
H

E
N

SI
V

E
 P

LA
N

M
A

P 
E

X
H

IB
IT

JL

MK

8/7/2024
24.0058

0' 120' 240'

1" = 120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF FIELD AT TIME OF SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF FIELD AT TIME OF SURVEY



TT

T

SS

SS

SS

SSSS
STST

16.5' WIDE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. NO. 1497473

20' WIDE DRAINAGE EASEMENT
PER DOC. NO. 1717707

PROPOSED
BUILDING

F.F.E.=877.50

PROJECT
LOCATION

HILL AND DALE ROAD COUNTY ROAD PP

SO
UT

H 
M

IL
W

A
UK

EE
 S

TR
EE

T/
 H

W
Y 

67
SO

UT
H 

M
IL

W
A

UK
EE

 S
TR

EE
T/

 H
W

Y 
67

0' 120' 240'

1" = 120'

Po
in
t
Be

gi
nn

in
g

of

POINT OF BEGINNING, INC. HOLDS THE RIGHTS TO COPYRIGHT IN AND TO THESE
PRINTS, DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS. NO REPRODUCTION, COPYING, ALTERATION,
MODIFICATION, USAGE, INCORPORATION INTO OTHER DOCUMENTS OR
ASSIGNMENT OF THE SAME MAY OCCUR WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN
PERMISSION OF POINT OF BEGINNING, INC.

2024 POINT OF BEGINNING, INC.C

REVISIONS

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DATE
PROJECT NO.

C
iv

il E
ng

in
ee

rin
g

La
nd

 S
ur

ve
yi

ng
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

ite
ct

ur
e

SHEETRE

49
41

 K
irs

ch
lin

g 
C

ou
rt

St
ev

en
s P

oi
nt

, W
I 5

44
81

Ph
on

e:
 7

15
.3

44
.9

99
9 

Fa
x:

 7
15

.3
44

.9
92

2

D
G

I 
PL

YM
O

U
TH

, L
LC

D
O

LL
A

R
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
PL

YM
O

U
TH

SH
E

B
O

YG
A

N
 C

O
, W

IS
C

O
N

SI
NR
E

ZO
N

E
 M

A
P 

E
X

H
IB

IT

JL

MK

8/7/2024
24.0058

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF FIELD AT TIME OF SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF FIELD AT TIME OF SURVEY







8/5/2024

Bradley Schwebs, Manager







8/5/2024

Bradley Schwebs, Manager



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  August 28, 2024  

TO:  Plan Commission 

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   

RE: Recommendation regarding amendments to Sec. 13-1-140 regarding accessory 
structures to the Common Council 

 
Background: 
Section 13-1-140 of the zoning code defines permitted accessory structures for residential 
properties. Feedback received from the Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator from a number 
residents is that Sec. 13-1-140 has not been amended in Plymouth as vehicle size has increased 
over the years, more residents have recreational items (such as boats, snowmobiles, 
snowblowers, etc.), and residents want to continue to make improvements to their homes with 
additions such pavilions, greenhouses, and sheds.  The goal of accessory structures code is to 
balance resident need/want with overcrowding of structures on a property. 
 
The Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator has reviewed peer communities and made several 
recommendations to modify Sec. 13-1-140 of accessory structure code to allow for greater 
flexibility. At the June Plan Commission reviewed the proposal in detail and recommended that 
Staff will work with the City Attorney to prepare an ordinance reflecting those changes.  The final 
draft ordinance is attached which is incorporates the changes is included as Attachment 1.  
 
Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of ordinance amendments to Sec. 13-1-140 regarding accessory 
structures to the Common Council 
 
Attachment: 

1. Draft Ordinance 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 13-1-140 AND 13-1-221 
OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH ZONING CODE 

REGARDING ACCESSORY STRUCTURES 

WHEREAS, there is a need for greater flexibility of the size and number of 
accessory structures for residential dwellings; and

WHEREAS, accessory structures for storage of motor vehicles and household 
items promotes the aesthetic of the community; and 

WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing on the herein ordinance, pursuant 
to Wis. Stat. § 62.23 was published in the Plymouth Review and held before the 
Common Council; and  

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the herein ordinance and 
recommends adoption; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council finds the public health, safety, morals and 
general welfare benefit from adoption of this ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, 
does hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-140 of the City of Plymouth 
General Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Sec. 13-1-140 – Accessory uses or structures. 

(a) Principal use to be present. An accessory use or structure in any zoning 
district shall not be established prior to the principal use or structure 
being present or under construction. Any accessory use or structure 
shall conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as specifically otherwise provided.

(b) Placement restrictions - residential districts. Accessory structures in 
single-family or two-family residential districts are subject to the 
following regulations:

(1) Attached garages:

a. One attached garage per dwelling unit shall be permitted.



Page 2 of 6

1. For a single-family dwelling unit, the maximum square feet of 
floor area shall be limited to the footprint of the total finished 
area of the dwelling unit.

2. For a two-family dwelling unit, the maximum square feet of 
floor area shall be limited to the smaller of 750 square feet 
per unit or the total finished area of each dwelling unit.

3. Minimum yards setbacks shall be the same as those 
required for the principal structure.

b. For single-family dwellings with an attached garage, there may 
be up to two (2) detached accessory structures; one (1) 
detached garage (maximum 750 square feet) and one (1) of the 
following accessory structures (maximum 200 square feet): one 
(1) shed, one (1) pavilion, one (1) greenhouse, or one (1) other 
accessory structure.

For two-family dwellings with an attached garage, there may be 
one (1) additional detached structure (maximum 200 square 
feet) of the following: one (1) shed, one (1) pavilion, one (1) 
greenhouse or one (1) other accessory structure that does not 
exceed the maximum limits set forth in subsection a. above, and 
complies with the location and height regulations for detached 
garages as provided in (b)(2) herein below.

(2) Detached garages:

a. For residences without an attached garage, one detached 
residential garage per lot shall be permitted.

1. For a single-family dwelling unit, the maximum square feet of 
floor area shall be limited to the smaller of 1, the footprint of 
the total finished area in square feet, or 30 percent of the 
rear yard.

2. For a two-family dwelling unit, the maximum square feet of 
floor area shall be limited to the smaller of 750 square feet 
per dwelling unit, or no more than 30 percent of the rear 
yard.  For calculating the two-family dwelling rear yards, the 
rear yard per side will divide at the common wall line and 
divide the areas in common for the purposes of this 
calculation.

3. If located to the rear of the principal dwelling unit, garage 
shall be a minimum of three (3) feet from the rear and side 
lot lines. If located in a side yard, the garage shall comply 
with the setback requirements for a dwelling in that zoning 
district. In either event, the structure shall be not less than 



Page 3 of 6

five (5) feet from the dwelling unit.  If closer than ten (10) feet 
for parallel walls, the construction shall follow the 
requirements of Wis. Admin. Code SPS § 321.08. If the 
detached garage exceeds 600 square feet, it must comply 
with the same setback requirements of the principal dwelling.  
Detached accessory structures shall not be located in a 
required front yard or street side yard for a corner lot and 
shall not be located in front of the principal dwelling unit 
building face.

4. A detached residential garage may have a maximum height 
of 15 feet or 60 percent of the principal dwelling unit height, 
whichever is greater.

b. For single-family and two-family dwelling units without an 
attached garage, there may be one (1) additional accessory 
structure along with a detached garage: one (1) shed, one (1) 
pavilion, one (1) greenhouse, or one (1) other accessory 
structure.  The maximum size of the additional structure is 200 
square feet.  Detached structures shall comply with all 
applicable height and location requirements for detached 
structures.

(3) The detached structures shall be complementary to the dwelling in 
construction and appearance.  Pole type construction buildings and 
metal pole barn type siding are not allowed. 

(4) Any detached accessory structure equal to or exceeding 160 square 
feet must comply with the garage foundations and footing 
requirement of section 15-1-12(d) of the City of Plymouth Code of 
Ordinances.

(c) Use restrictions—Residential district. Accessory uses or structures in 
residential districts shall not involve the conduct of any business, trade, 
or industry and shall not be occupied as a dwelling unit.

(d) Reversed corner lots. When an accessory structure is located on the 
rear of a reversed corner lot, it shall not be located beyond the front 
yard required on the adjacent interior lot to the rear, nor nearer than 
three (3) feet to the property line of the adjacent structure.

(e) Landscaping and decorative uses. Accessory structures and vegetation 
used for landscaping and decorating may be placed in any required 
yard area not regulated by vision clearance regulations. Permitted 
structures and vegetation include flag poles, ornamental light standards, 
lawn furniture, sun dials, bird baths, trees, shrubs, flowers, and gardens.

(f) Temporary uses. Temporary accessory uses such as real estate sale 
field offices or shelters for materials and equipment being used in the 



Page 4 of 6

construction of the permanent structure may be permitted by the zoning 
administrator.

(g) Temporary special exception and temporary special land use permits.

(1) The zoning administrator shall have the power to grant permits 
authorizing temporary special exceptions for:

a. Outdoor tent, sidewalk, or flower/plant sales, and seasonal sales 
of produce, firewood, or Christmas trees in the B-1, business or 
professional offices and the B-3 highway business districts.

(h) Prefabricated storage enclosures.

(1) A prefabricated storage enclosure does not allow the use of 
shipping containers or containers used for moving or storage of 
personal belongings.

(2) A prefabricated storage enclosure is used to store personal property 
for residential use.

(3) Prefabricated storage enclosures, are not designed and 
manufactured to conform to all the requirements of the Wisconsin 
Uniform Building Code Chapter III, Garages and Accessory 
Structures.

(i) Outdoor lighting. Outdoor lighting installations shall not be permitted 
closer than three feet to an abutting property line and, where not 
specifically otherwise regulated, shall not exceed 15 feet in height and 
shall be adequately shielded or hooded so that no excessive glare or 
illumination is cast upon the adjoining properties.

(j) Lawn accessories. Walks, drives, paved terraces and purely decorative 
garden accessories such as pools, fountains, statuary, flag poles, etc., 
shall be permitted in setback areas but not closer than three feet to an 
abutting property line other than a street line.

(k) Retaining walls. Retaining walls on private property are allowed, but 
may not exceed six feet in height from grade to the top of the wall. A 
person building a retaining wall which creates a drop down of three feet 
or more for a neighboring property or public land shall be required to 
protect the upper ground with a guardrail pursuant to applicable building 
code requirements, or provide and maintain on their own property 
plantings which give similar protection as a guardrail. Any terraced wall 
shall have a run equal to or greater than its lower rise. The sum of the 
rises may be greater than the six-foot limit. Exceptions to these basic 
regulations may be approved by the common council. Notice of the 
construction or reconstruction of a retaining wall shall be given to the 
building inspector prior to commencement of construction; a building 



Page 5 of 6

permit shall be required only for retaining walls greater than six feet in 
height. Any retaining wall constructed prior to January 1, 2002, shall be 
exempt from this paragraph, except if the same shall be substantially 
reconstructed.

(l) Decks. Decks shall be considered as uncovered accessory structures 
and shall have setback requirements as follows, whether they are 
attached or detached from the principal building:

(1) Front yard. A deck may be located up to six feet into the required 
front yard or ahead of the existing building setback for the block, 
and shall not exceed 16 inches above ground level.

(2) Rear yard. A deck may be located no closer than three feet from the 
lot line.

(3) Side yard. A deck may be located no closer than three feet from the 
lot line.

(m)Canopy units. No canopy structure, whether permanent or temporary, 
shall be permitted in a required front, side, or rear yard, for a period of 
time greater than 15 days, except with the consent of the plan 
commission.”

Section 2. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-221 is hereby amended to 
include the following definitions to be placed alphabetically:

“Greenhouse means an accessory structure built for growing plants.  
Greenhouses are usually made of transparent (clear) materials that allow 
sunlight to pass through. 

Pavilion means a detached accessory structure having four (4) open sides, 
with a roof system impervious to the elements, that is used for recreation or 
shelter.”

Section 3. Repealing and Recreating Code.  Within section 13-1-221, the 
definition of “Garage, residential” and “Garage, nonresidential” are hereby repealed and 
recreated to read as follows:

“Garage means an attached or detached accessory use building or 
structure, or part thereof, used, or designed to be used, for the parking and 
storage of motor driven vehicles.”

Section 4. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication or posting.



Page 6 of 6

Enacted on , 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of 
Plymouth Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
ANNA VOIGT, Clerk

9431\230902



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  August 28, 2024 

TO:  Plan Commission 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Discussion and Recommendation regarding potential change to 13-1-92 related 

to parking stall requirements. 
 
 
Background: The City of Plymouth regulates the number of parking stalls required for an 
individual parcel’s particular use in the zoning code. Parking requirements are outlined in 13-1-92 
(Uses in the B-2 and CB districts are exempt from parking requirements). 
 
It has come to the attention of City Staff, based on conversations with developers, that some of 
Plymouth’s parking codes related to retail and office uses are outdated due to changes in 
consumer habits related to online shopping, increases in order pickup as opposed to shopping in-
store, and an increase in employees working from home. 
 
For example, a recent developer noted that their stores nationwide have approximately 35 parking 
spaces, but the City of Plymouth’s code would require their store to have 69 spaces. 
 
The consensus of the Common Council’s Committee of the Whole was to make the underlined 
change to 13-1-92 that would add the following language to parking stall requirements for retail 
stores and office buildings: 
 

Retail stores 

1 space per 125 square feet of retail 
floor area, except as otherwise 

deemed appropriate by the Plan 
Commission 

 

Office building 

1 space for each 250 square feet of 
office space, except as otherwise 
deemed appropriate by the Plan 

Commission 
 

 
To be "deemed appropriate by the Plan Commission" would require that a developer prove via 
either a parking study an appropriate presentation to Plan Commission that their proposed parking 
stall request can support the proposed use. If the use were to change from the noted category, 
the number of parking stalls would need to be updated to meet 13-1-92. 
 
Committee of the Whole Recommendation: Refer an amendment to ordinance 13-1-92 to Plan 
Commission for consideration and Approval. 
 
Recommendation: Recommend the Common Council approve ordinance 13-1-92 as presented.  
 



Attachments: 
• Draft Ordinance 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
Ordinance No. ________ of 2024 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-92 OF THE  

GENERAL CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
REGARDING PARKING STALL REQUIREMENTS 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the herein ordinance and 
recommends adoption; and  
 
 WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 62.23 was 
published in the Plymouth Review and held before the Common Council; and   
 

WHEREAS, the general welfare of the community is best served by amending the 
Zoning Code to create flexibility as to the minimum number of parking stalls required for 
certain types of property uses. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, 
does hereby ordain as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Amending Code. Section 13-1-92(g), Number of Stalls, of the City 
of Plymouth General Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows (deletions 
indicated by strikeout; insertions by underline):   
 

“(g) Number of stalls.  The number of required parking spaces is 
determined by the building use as follows: 

 
Use Minimum On-Site Parking Required 

  
One-and two-family homes 2 spaces for each dwelling unit 
  
Multi-family dwelling 2 spaces for each dwelling unit 
  
Senior citizen multi-family dwellings 1 space for each dwelling unit 
  

Hotels or motels 
1 stall for each guest room plus 1 

space for each employee 
  
Hospitals, lodges, boarding houses 1 space for each bed 
  
Rest, assisted living, and nursing 
homes 1 space for each 2 beds 
  
Medical and dental clinics 5 spaces for each doctor 
  
Churches, theaters, banquet halls, 
restaurants, places of public assembly 1 space for each 2 seats 
  



Retail stores 

1 space per 125 square feet of retail 
floor area, except as otherwise 

deemed appropriate by the Plan 
Commission 

 

  

Office building 

1 space for each 250 square feet of 
office space, except as otherwise 
deemed appropriate by the Plan 

Commission 
 

  

Manufacturing plant 
1 space for each employee in the 
most populus shift of employment 

  

Unlisted uses 
Same as a similar use, or to be 

determined by the Plan Commission 
  

Combined uses 
Compute each use separately, then 

add the required spaces 
 

When the use of a building changes to a different category, the parking 
requirements of the new use shall be met.  Uses in the B-2 and CB districts 
shall be exempt from this provision.” 
 

 Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected. 
 
 Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after 
publication or posting. 
 
 Enacted on      , 2024. 
 
      CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
             
      DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor 
 
      Date:        
 
 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of 
Plymouth Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above. 
 
 
Dated:     , 2024         
      ANNA VOIGT, Clerk 
9431\230738 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  July 24, 2024 

TO:  Plan Commission 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Public Hearing regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 7, 

the proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the 
District. 

 
Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries 
of and Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 7.” 

 

Background: Tax incremental financing (TIF) is the most 
effective tool Wisconsin cities and villages have to spur 
economic development and job creation. Municipalities 
have been using TIF successfully since 1975. The TIF 
process allows a municipality to pay for public 
improvements and other eligible costs within a designated 
area, called a tax incremental district (TID), using the future 
taxes collected on the TID’s increased property value to 
repay the cost of the improvements. The rationale behind 
TIF is that the investment will promote private development, 
jobs, and tax base growth that would not otherwise occur in 
the absence of the TID. For a TID 101, visit: 
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-
2023-02-06-.pdf. Plymouth currently has three districts: TID 
#4, TID #5, and TID #6, which can be seen pictured to the 
right (Please note that although TID #4 is formally closed, it 
was extended to collect a final year of increment for the 
affordable housing extension permitted by state law). 

Following the recent closure and enormous success of 
Plymouth TID #4, the City is actively creating TID #7. TID #7 
is a proposed Mixed-Use District comprising approximately 
242.54 acres located in the northeastern part of the City 
(pictured to the right). City staff, in coordination with Ehlers 
(the City’s financial consultants), have developed the 
attached TID #7 Project Plan, which lays the framework for 
the creation of TID #7 which is current planned to include a 
single-family development, a multi-family development, a 
commercial development, and significant public infrastructure 
improvements. At the meeting tonight, Ehlers will present the 
project plan and answer questions. 

Current Plymouth TIDs 

Proposed TID#7 

https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf


 
 
TID #7 will be created to support the costs of public infrastructure projects, property acquisition 
and site preparation costs, development incentives, and other project costs needed to support 
the development and redevelopment within the district. As required by state law, “but for” the 
use of TIF, the City would be unable to undertake the program of improvements outlined in the 
draft project plan.  
 
In summary, the proposed TID #7 district provides an excellent opportunity to leverage TIF to 
further support community housing, development, and infrastructure needs. 
 
Strategic Plan: The TID #7 district works to directly meet the following outcomes outlined in the 
Common Council’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan: 

• Outcome: Expanded Economic Development 
• Outcome: TIF District Utilization Expanded 
• Outcome: Increased Housing Options for All 

 
Timeline: The Plymouth Joint Review Board meets immediately prior to Plan Commission to 
review and consider the TID #7 project plan. Following Plan Commission review, TID #7 will be 
presented to the Common Council for consideration at the end of September. 
 
In addition, the creation of TID #7 by September 30, 2024, provides the City with long-term levy 
benefits (50% closure levy adjustment for TIDs created on or before September 30, 2024 VS. a 
10% closure levy adjustment for TIDs created on October 1 or later due to a state law change). 

 
Staff Recommendation: Approve the resolution establishing the boundaries of and approving 
the project plan for Tax Incremental District No. 7. 

Attachments: 
• Draft Resolution 
• Draft Project Plan  

 
 



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 
 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE BOUNDARIES OF AND APPROVING THE PROJECT PLAN FOR 
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental Financing 

is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 7 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by the City in 

accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax Increment Law"); and 
 
WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes:  
a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 

improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 
66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the 

related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 

ordinances; 
h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 
j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the plan is 

complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f); and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the chief 

executive officers of Sheboygan County, the Plymouth Joint School District, and the Lakeshore Technical 
College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on property located within the 
District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law; and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the Plan 

Commission, on September 5, 2024 held a public hearing concerning the proposed creation of the District, 
its proposed boundaries and its proposed Project Plan, providing interested parties a reasonable 
opportunity to express their views thereon. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Plan Commission of the City of Plymouth that: 

 
1. It recommends to the Common Council that Tax Incremental District No. 7 be created with 

boundaries as designated in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 
 

2. It approves and adopts the Project Plan for the District, attached as Exhibit B, and 
recommends its approval to the Common Council. 

 



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

3. Creation of the District promotes orderly development in the City. 
 

 
Adopted this _____ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
 
       
Plan Commission Chair 
 
 
 
       
Secretary of the Plan Commission 



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT A - 
 
 
 
 
 

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7 
BOUNDARY MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[INCLUDED IN PROJECT PLAN] 



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 7 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 



 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 

 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 

  





  

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 

. 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 

• 

• 

• 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 

 

 

  

Project ID Project Name/Type Ongoing Totals 1/2 Mile Non-Project Costs1 Est. Timing

1 Development Incentives 11,095,069 11,095,069 2027-2043

2 Public Infrastructure 6,955,000 6,955,000 4,680,000 1,300,000 2025-2030

3 Principal & Interest on Long Term Debt 8,792,842 8,792,842 Ongoing

4 Financing Costs 253,238 253,238 Ongoing

5 Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 480,000 480,000 Ongoing

Total Projects 27,576,148 27,576,148 4,680,000 1,300,000

Notes:

1. Sewer Utility non-project cost contribution to offset the Eastside Sewer Interceptor replacement. 

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 

 

 

  



 

Annual Total

1 2024 0 2024 1

2 2025 78 11,700,000 15 4,500,000 16,200,000 2025 2

3 2026 78 11,700,000 45 13,500,000 36 5,333,333 1,000,000 31,533,333 2026 3

4 2027 30 9,000,000 18 2,666,667 2,000,000 13,666,667 2027 4

5 2028 2,500,000 2,500,000 2028 5

Totals 156 23,400,000 90 27,000,000 54 8,000,000 0 5,500,000 63,900,000

Construction 

Year

Construction 

Year

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 7

Development Assumptions

Wangard SCEDC Residential Project
Commercial 

Development
Future Development



Type of District Base Value 20,229,900

District Creation Date Economic Change Factor 2.00%

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2024 Apply to Base Value

Max Life (Years) Base Tax Rate $15.75

Expenditure Period/Termination 15 1/1/2039 Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%

Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2045

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3

Eligible Recipient District

Construction 

Year Value Added

Valuation 

Year

Economic 

Change

Total 

Increment

Revenue 

Year Tax Rate1 Tax Increment

1 2024 0 2025 0 0 2026 $15.75 0

2 2025 16,200,000 2026 0 16,200,000 2027 $15.73 254,852

3 2026 31,533,333 2027 324,000 48,057,333 2028 $15.71 755,057

4 2027 13,666,667 2028 961,147 62,685,147 2029 $15.69 983,629

5 2028 2,500,000 2029 1,253,703 66,438,850 2030 $15.67 1,041,202

6 2029 0 2030 1,328,777 67,767,627 2031 $15.65 1,060,670

7 2030 0 2031 1,355,353 69,122,979 2032 $15.63 1,080,501

8 2031 0 2032 1,382,460 70,505,439 2033 $15.61 1,100,701

9 2032 0 2033 1,410,109 71,915,547 2034 $15.59 1,121,277

10 2033 0 2034 1,438,311 73,353,858 2035 $15.57 1,142,236

11 2034 0 2035 1,467,077 74,820,936 2036 $15.55 1,163,584

12 2035 0 2036 1,496,419 76,317,354 2037 $15.53 1,185,329

13 2036 0 2037 1,526,347 77,843,701 2038 $15.51 1,207,479

14 2037 0 2038 1,556,874 79,400,575 2039 $15.49 1,230,040

15 2038 0 2039 1,588,012 80,988,587 2040 $15.47 1,253,021

16 2039 0 2040 1,619,772 82,608,359 2041 $15.45 1,276,430

17 2040 0 2041 1,652,167 84,260,526 2042 $15.43 1,300,273

18 2041 0 2042 1,685,211 85,945,736 2043 $15.41 1,324,560

19 2042 0 2043 1,718,915 87,664,651 2044 $15.39 1,349,298

20 2043 0 2044 1,753,293 89,417,944 2045 $15.37 1,374,495

Totals 63,900,000 25,517,944 Future Value of Increment 21,204,634

Notes:

1) Tax rate shown is actual 2023/2024 rate per DOR Form PC-202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

Mixed Use

January 1, 2024

20

No

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 7

Tax Increment Projection Worksheet



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 

 

G.O. 

Promissory 

Note

G.O. 

Promissory 

Note

2025 2030

Projects

Public Infrastructure 1,560,000 4,095,000

Total Project Funds 1,560,000 4,095,000

Other Funds

Capitalized Interest 227,436

Estimated Finance Related Expenses

Municipal Advisor 27,400 39,700

Bond Counsel 20,000 25,000

Diclosure Counsel 13,000 16,250

Rating Agency Fee 15,000 20,000

Paying Agent 850 850

Underwriter Discount 12.50 22,938 12.50 52,250

Total Financing Required 1,886,624 4,249,050

Estimated Interest 3.50% (54,600) 3.50% (71,663)

Assumed spend down (months) 12 6

Rounding 2,977 2,613

Net Issue Size 1,835,000 4,180,000

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 7

Estimated Financing Plan

DEBT ISSUES



 

Total

$1,835,000 $4,180,000 Debt

Year Issue Total Issue Total Service Year

2024 0 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 (40,000) (40,000) 0 2024

2025 1,835,000 227,436 36,400 2,098,836 0 0 0 325,000 99,188 20,000 444,188 1,654,649 1,614,649 1,835,000 2025

2026 0 18,200 18,200 113,718 0 113,718 1,235,000 20,000 1,368,718 (1,350,518) 264,131 1,835,000 2026

2027 254,852 254,852 75,812 0 75,812 211,668 20,000 307,480 (52,629) 211,502 1,835,000 2027

2028 755,057 755,057 75,812 0 75,812 533,584 20,000 629,396 125,660 337,162 1,835,000 2028

2029 983,629 983,629 149,443 0 149,443 638,399 20,000 807,842 175,787 512,949 1,760,000 2029

2030 1,041,202 4,180,000 1,300,000 71,663 6,592,864 151,615 0 151,615 643,961 5,395,000 154,050 20,000 6,364,625 228,239 741,188 5,860,000 2030

2031 1,060,670 1,060,670 153,603 423,888 577,491 649,571 20,000 1,247,061 (186,391) 554,797 5,630,000 2031

2032 1,080,501 1,080,501 150,492 357,525 508,017 655,228 20,000 1,183,245 (102,744) 452,053 5,365,000 2032

2033 1,100,701 1,100,701 152,268 359,200 511,468 660,933 20,000 1,192,401 (91,700) 360,354 5,085,000 2033

2034 1,121,277 1,121,277 148,915 365,313 514,228 666,688 20,000 1,200,915 (79,638) 280,716 4,790,000 2034

2035 1,142,236 1,142,236 150,399 370,750 521,149 672,491 20,000 1,213,640 (71,404) 209,312 4,475,000 2035

2036 1,163,584 1,163,584 151,595 375,513 527,108 678,343 20,000 1,225,451 (61,867) 147,445 4,140,000 2036

2037 1,185,329 1,185,329 152,415 379,600 532,015 684,246 20,000 1,236,261 (50,931) 96,513 3,785,000 2037

2038 1,207,479 1,207,479 152,900 383,013 535,913 690,198 20,000 1,246,111 (38,632) 57,881 3,410,000 2038

2039 1,230,040 1,230,040 153,175 390,638 543,813 696,201 20,000 1,260,014 (29,973) 27,908 3,010,000 2039

2040 1,253,021 1,253,021 153,150 377,813 530,963 702,256 20,000 1,253,218 (197) 27,711 2,605,000 2040

2041 1,276,430 1,276,430 152,809 379,650 532,459 675,243 20,000 1,227,701 48,728 76,440 2,180,000 2041

2042 1,300,273 1,300,273 152,218 405,250 557,468 403,722 20,000 981,189 319,084 395,523 1,710,000 2042

2043 1,324,560 1,324,560 151,354 409,500 560,854 407,231 20,000 988,084 336,475 731,999 1,215,000 2043

2044 1,349,298 1,349,298 155,088 412,850 567,938 410,769 20,000 998,707 350,591 1,082,590 1,104,338 2044

2045 1,374,495 1,374,495 153,413 552,150 705,563 414,338 40,000 1,159,900 214,595 1,297,185 0 2045

Totals 21,204,634 6,015,000 1,300,000 227,436 126,263 28,873,333 2,850,192 5,942,650 8,792,842 11,095,069 6,955,000 253,238 480,000 27,576,148 Totals 

Notes:

1. Sewer Utility non-project cost contribution to offset the Eastside Sewer Interceptor replacement. 

LEGEND:

END OF EXP. PERIOD

Transfer 

from Sewer 

Utility 1

2025 G.O. Promissory 

Note

2030 G.O. 

Promissory Note

PROJECTED CLOSURE YEAR

Annual Cumulative

Liabilities 

Outstanding

Projected Revenues

Total 

Revenues

Balances

Total 

Development 

Incentives

Public 

Infrastructure 

Total 

Expenditures

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 7

Cash Flow Projection

Capitalized 

Interest

Interest on 

Borrowed 

Funds

Tax 

Increments

Debt 

Proceeds

Ongoing 

Planning & 

Administration

Projected Expenditures

Financing 

Costs



 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 

• 

• 

• 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 

 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 7 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 

Revenue 

Year

Sheboygan 

County

City of 

Plymouth

Plymouth 

School District

Lakeshore 

Technical Total

Revenue 

Year

2026 0 0 0 0 0 2026

2027 49,862 115,265 82,110 7,615 254,852 2027

2028 147,728 341,498 243,268 22,562 755,057 2028

2029 192,449 444,878 316,911 29,392 983,629 2029

2030 203,713 470,917 335,460 31,112 1,041,202 2030

2031 207,522 479,722 341,733 31,694 1,060,670 2031

2032 211,402 488,691 348,122 32,286 1,080,501 2032

2033 215,354 497,827 354,630 32,890 1,100,701 2033

2034 219,380 507,133 361,259 33,505 1,121,277 2034

2035 223,480 516,612 368,012 34,131 1,142,236 2035

2036 227,657 526,268 374,890 34,769 1,163,584 2036

2037 231,912 536,103 381,896 35,419 1,185,329 2037

2038 236,245 546,121 389,032 36,080 1,207,479 2038

2039 240,660 556,325 396,301 36,755 1,230,040 2039

2040 245,156 566,719 403,706 37,441 1,253,021 2040

2041 249,736 577,306 411,247 38,141 1,276,430 2041

2042 254,401 588,090 418,929 38,853 1,300,273 2042

2043 259,152 599,074 426,754 39,579 1,324,560 2043

2044 263,992 610,263 434,724 40,318 1,349,298 2044

2045 268,922 621,659 442,843 41,071 1,374,495 2045

Totals 4,148,724 9,590,470 6,831,830 633,611 21,204,634

Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing 

jurisdiction overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 7


	Plan Commission Agenda 9/5/24
	1. Plan Commission Minutes 8/1/24
	2. Site Plan Seeking Approval 818 E Clifford St.
	3. Certified Survey Map Seeking Approval - Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC
	4. Parcel Seeking a Recommendation for an Amendment to the 2022 Comprehensive Plan Map - Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC
	5. Parcel Seeking Recommendation for Rezoning from Current A - Agricultural to B3 - Highway Business - Pankow/DGI Plymouth LLC
	6. Ordinance Seeking Recommendation for Approval 13-1-140
	7. Ordinance Seeking Recommendation for Approval 13-1-92
	8. Public Hearing Regarding the Proposed Creation of Tax Incremental District No. 7
	9. Consideration and Possible Action on a "Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 7



